# Yale University EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale

#### Public Health Theses

School of Public Health

January 2015

# Maternal Passive Smoking And Risk Of Small For Gestational Age Among Non-Smoking Chinese Women

Huang Huang Yale University, h.huang@yale.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ysphtdl

#### **Recommended** Citation

Huang, Huang, "Maternal Passive Smoking And Risk Of Small For Gestational Age Among Non-Smoking Chinese Women" (2015). Public Health Theses. 1131. http://elischolar.library.yale.edu/ysphtdl/1131

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Public Health at EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. It has been accepted for inclusion in Public Health Theses by an authorized administrator of EliScholar – A Digital Platform for Scholarly Publishing at Yale. For more information, please contact elischolar@yale.edu.

# Maternal Passive Smoking and Risk of Small for Gestational Age among Non-Smoking Chinese Women

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of Master of Public Health

at Yale University

by

Huang Huang

Thesis Advisors: Dr. Yawei Zhang Dr. Shuangge Ma

April 2015

#### Abstract

Maternal active smoking is an established risk factor for small for gestational age (SGA). The role of maternal passive smoking in SGA, however, is unclear. The present study analyzed data from a birth cohort study conducted in Lanzhou, China between 2010 and 2012 including 8,638 non-smoking women who delivered singleton live births. Among those, 775 were SGA and 7,863 were appropriate for gestational age (AGA). Multivariate logistic regression models were used to calculate odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs). Potential confounding variables included in the final models were maternal age, education, employment status during pregnancy, parity, maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI), gestational hypertension, prior delivery of a low birth weight (LBW) infant, and total energy intake during pregnancy. Exposure to passive smoking during pregnancy was associated with an increased risk of SGA (OR=1.29, 95% CI: 1.08, 1.54). Risk of SGA increased with increasing duration of exposure (P<sub>trend</sub>=0.003). Passive smoking exposure at home was associated with greater risk compared to exposure at other locations (OR=1.35, 95% CI: 1.11, 1.64 and OR=1.13, 95% CI: 0.78, 1.65, respectively). The results suggested a positive association between maternal passive smoking and risk of SGA.

Keywords: birth cohort, passive smoking, small for gestational age, SGA, China

#### Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my academic advisor, Dr. Yawei Zhang, for her full support, expert guidance, understanding and encouragement throughout my study and research. In addition, I would like to equally express my gratitude to Dr. Shuangge Ma for his agreement to be my thesis advisor and providing me the friendly guidance and thought-provoking suggestions on my thesis. I would also like to thank all the faculty members who have directly or indirectly helped me with my coursework and academic research during the last two years. Finally, I wish to thank all the study personnel from the Gansu Provincial Maternity and Child Care Hospital for their exceptional efforts on study subject recruitment, data collection, and study monitoring.

## **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction1							
2	Literature review							
3	nods and materials4							
	3.1	Study population						
	3.2	Exposure assessment						
	3.3	Outcome definition						
	3.4	Statistical analysis7						
4	Resu	lts						
	4.1	Description of study population						
	4.2	Primary analysis10						
	4.3	Stratified analysis						
	4.4	Sensitivity analysis						
5	Discussion							
6	Conclusion10							
Re	ferenc	ces						
Aŗ	pendi	x						
	A.1	List of abbreviations						
	A.2	List of previous studies on maternal passive smoking and small for gestational age27						

## List of Tables

Table 1	Distribution of demographic and pregnancy-related characteristics among non-smokers
	by gestational age weight
Table 2	Distribution of demographic and pregnancy-related characteristics among non-smokers
	by passive smoking exposure
Table 3	Means and standard deviations of duration of maternal passive smoking among
	exposed women by exposure locations and trimesters
Table 4	Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age
Table 5	Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age by duration of
	exposure
Table 6	Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age by location of
	exposure
Table 7	Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age among term
	births
Table 8	Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age among preterm
	births40
Table 9	Stratified associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age42
Table 10	Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age based on the US
	national reference

#### **1** Introduction

Small for gestational age (SGA), which is usually defined as a birth weight below the 10th percentile of the gestational age- and gender-specific population standard, is often used as a proxy for intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR) [1, 2, 6]. IUGR, a term describing a failure of the fetus to achieve its growth potential, is a major public health issue [1]. IUGR is an important cause of perinatal mortality and morbidity and is related to various adult-onset chronic diseases, such as diabetes, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and metabolic syndrome [2, 3]. The prevalence of IUGR is estimated to be 4-8% among pregnancies in developed countries and up to 27% in developing countries, whereas the expenditures pertaining to IUGR account for more than half of the costs incurred for all neonates [1, 4, 5].

Maternal active smoking is an established risk factor for SGA [7-12]. The role of maternal passive smoking in SGA, however, is less clear. Some studies have shown that maternal passive smoking is associated with an increased risk of SGA [13-24], while others saw no association [25-31]. Ahluwalia et al. found that maternal passive smoking increased the risk of SGA birth among women aged 30 years or older, but no significant association was seen among younger mothers [32]. Three meta-analyses have suggested a non-significant positive association between maternal passive smoking and SGA [19, 33, 51]. However, the heterogeneity among the studies was significant. Varying definitions of maternal passive smoking, multiple measurements and levels of exposure, incomplete information on confounders, and variations in genetic

susceptibility in study populations may contribute to the inconsistent results. Additionally, most early studies included both active and non-active smokers as their study population. As a strong risk factor for SGA, maternal active smoking may create or mask an association between maternal passive smoking and SGA. It is ideal to study the association between passive smoking and SGA among never smokers.

The Chinese population contains a high proportion of non-smoking women. Though China is the largest tobacco consuming country in the world, the distribution of active smokers varies widely by gender. According to the Global Adult Tobacco Survey in 2010, more than half (52.9%) of men but only 2.4% of women in China were active smokers [34]. This provides a unique opportunity to study maternal passive smoking and SGA among non-active smoking women. In light of the inconclusive findings linking maternal passive smoking and SGA, we analyzed data from a birth cohort study in Lanzhou, China to test the hypothesis that maternal exposure to passive smoking is associated with an increased risk of SGA among non-smoking women. Additionally, we investigated whether the association varied by timing, duration and location of exposure.

#### 2 Literature review

While maternal active smoking has been well established as a risk factor of SGA, the effects of maternal passive smoking on risk of SGA have been less well studied and are less consistent in

the previous literatures.

A total of 20 studies investigated the association between maternal passive smoking exposure during pregnancy and risk of SGA were reviewed [13-32]. The majority of these studies reported either significantly [15, 16, 20, 21] or non-significantly [13, 14, 17-19, 22-24, 32] elevated risk of SGA associated with maternal passive smoking, while several others found no association [25-31].

Among the 20 reviewed studies, maternal passive smoking was collected by self-report questionnaire in 18 studies [13, 15-20, 22-32], or biologically in two studies using nicotine and/or cotinine levels in hair [14, 21]. Maternal passive smoking was assessed either as domestic exposure (exposure at home) in 7 studies [13, 15-17, 24, 26, 32], or as domestic and occupational exposure (exposure at work) in 8 studies [18-20, 22, 23, 25, 28, 31]. The remaining 5 studies assessed maternal passive smoking exposure at any location (at home, at work, and/or at other locations) [14, 21, 27, 29, 30].

In 7 out of the 20 studies, maternal passive smoking exposure were assessed using prospective cohorts [20, 25-29, 32]. Ten studies used retrospective ascertainment of exposure [13, 14, 16-19, 22-24, 31], and recorded exposure data usually within one month after delivery. The remaining three studies used a case-control design in which cases were SGA [15, 21, 30]. Four studies

included only term infants with gestational age  $\geq$ 37 weeks [22, 24, 30, 31], and the remaining studies recruited both term and preterm neonates.

There were 4 studies conducted in East Asian populations [13, 24, 25, 27]. All of them reported either a non-significantly positive association between maternal passive smoking exposure and risk of SGA [13, 24] or no association [25, 27].

#### **3** Methods and Materials

The present study was based on data from a birth cohort study which was conducted at the Gansu Provincial Maternity and Child Care Hospital (GPMCCH), the largest maternity and child care hospital in Lanzhou, China.

#### **3.1** Study population

The birth cohort study design has been described previously [35]. Briefly, a total of 14,535 pregnant women came to the hospital for delivery between 2010-2012. After exclusion of ineligible women, 14,359 women who aged 18 years or older, had no mental illness, and were with gestational age  $\geq$ 20 completed weeks were eligible to participant in the study. Of those, 3,712 refused to participate and 105 did not complete in-person interviews, which yielded 10,542 (73.4%) women participated in the study.

All study procedures were approved by the Human Investigation Committees at GPMCCH and Yale University. Each participant was informed of the study procedure upon their arrival at the hospital for delivery. After obtaining written consent, participants were interviewed by trained study interviewers using a standardized and structured questionnaire either before or after delivery in the maternity wards. The majority of women (84%) were interviewed within 1 to 3 days after delivery. Information on maternal passive smoking exposure and potential confounders (demographic factors, reproductive and medical history, alcohol and tea consumption, physical activity, occupational and residential history, and dietary intake) were collected via questionnaire. Information on birth weight and pregnancy complications was abstracted from medical records.

#### 3.2 Exposure assessment

Active smokers were defined as ever smokers who had ever smoked one or more cigarettes per day for at least one month. 85 active smokers were excluded from the study population.

Passive smokers were defined as women who were exposed to someone else's cigarette smoke during pregnancy. For passive smokers, information on exposure included whether or not they were exposed to passive smoking at home (yes/no), at work (yes/no), and/or in any other places (yes/no) during pregnancy, how many hours per day had the family members smoked in front of the pregnant women, and how many hours per day had the pregnant women exposed to someone else's cigarette smoke at work and/or other locations. Exposure to passive smoking at home was defined as exposed to any family member's cigarette smoke at home. Information on duration (hours per day) and location (at home or other location) of passive smoking were asked separately for each trimester.

#### 3.3 Outcome definition

SGA birth was defined as an infant born with a birth weight below the 10th percentile of the gestational age- and gender-specific birth weight standards for Chinese newborns [6]. Gestational age at delivery was calculated in completed weeks from the first day of the last menstrual period. Large for gestational age (LGA) birth was defined as an infant born with a birth weight above the 90th percentile using the same standards. Neonates who weighed between the 10th and 90th percentiles were defined as appropriate for gestational age (AGA) births. The range of gestational age in the Chinese national standard was from 28 to 44 weeks. For the neonates with gestational age 22 to 27 weeks, the US national reference based on 2009-2010 US live births was used as a surrogate standard [36]. Since no gestational age- and gender-specific birth weight standards were available for gestational age less than 22 weeks, 4 participants with gestational age less than 22 weeks were excluded. After further exclusion of individuals with missing birth weight (n=39), and those who were LGA (n=1,413), the final sample size was 8,638 (775 SGA and 7,863 AGA).

#### 3.4 Statistical analysis

Chi-square test and Fisher's exact test were performed to compare the frequency distribution of selected characteristics between SGA and AGA and between passive smoking exposed and non-exposed. Means and standard deviations (SDs) of exposure duration by exposure timing and locations were assessed by student's t-test. Logistic regression models were used to estimate odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) for the association between maternal passive smoking during pregnancy and SGA. We also examined the associations by exposure timing (first, second, and/or third trimesters), duration (<1 hour/day or  $\geq$ 1 hour/day for estimating ORs and 95% CIs, and continuous for estimating P<sub>trend</sub>s) and location (at home or at other locations). Definition of exposure duration and location was consistent with previous study [35]. Cut-off of exposure duration was based on the distribution of duration values (Mean  $\pm$  SD = 0.92  $\pm$  1.81 hours per day) and previous study [35].

The regression models were adjusted for maternal age (continuous), education ( $\leq 12$  or  $\geq 13$  years), employment status during pregnancy (yes or no), parity (primiparity or pluriparity), maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI) ( $\leq 18.5$ , 18.6-23.9,  $\geq 24$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>, cut-off for Chinese [54]), gestational hypertension (yes or no), prior delivery of a low birth weight (LBW, <2,500 g) infant (yes or no), and total energy intake during pregnancy ( $\leq 1425.9$ , 1426.0-1683.4, 1683.5-1984.6,  $\geq 1984.7$  kcal/day, quartiles). Additional adjustment for family income, maternal weight gain during pregnancy, maternal exercise during pregnancy, gestational diabetes,

maternal anemia, and alcohol consumption during pregnancy did not result in material changes in the observed associations and thus were not included in the final models.

We performed linear regression analysis to estimate the decrease in mean birth weight attributed to passive smoking exposure before and after controlling for the potential confounders, respectively. We also performed stratified analyses by gestational age, maternal age, pre-pregnancy BMI, parity, gestational hypertension, and maternal anemia to assess potential effect modification. Sensitivity analyses were also performed by using the US national reference as the only standard to re-define SGA.

All tests were two-sided with  $\alpha$ =0.05. Analyses were conducted using SAS software, version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, North Carolina).

#### 4 Results

#### 4.1 Description of study population

There were 1660 (19.2%) women who reported that they had ever been exposed to passive smoking during pregnancy.

Table 1 presents the distributions of demographic and pregnancy-related characteristics in non-smoking women with SGA and AGA births. Women who gave birth to SGA infants were

more likely to be younger, less educated, unemployed during pregnancy, and had lower family income. Women who gave birth to SGA infants were also more likely to have low or high pre-pregnancy BMI, have less total energy intake, have gained less weight during pregnancy, have preterm delivery, be multiparous, and have previously delivered a LBW infant. Women who were diagnosed with gestational hypertension were also more likely to deliver SGA infants. Distributions of maternal physical activity, alcohol consumption during pregnancy, gestational diabetes, and maternal anemia were similar between SGA and AGA neonates.

The distributions of selected maternal characteristics between passive smokers and non-passive smokers are presented in Table 2. Passive smokers were younger and less educated, and had lower family income. Passive smokers were also more likely to have preterm delivery, be multiparous, diagnosed with anemia, physically active, report higher alcohol consumption, and report lower total energy intake during pregnancy. Distributions of employment status during pregnancy, maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and weight gain during pregnancy, gestational hypertension and diabetes, and history of delivery LBW infant were similar among passive smokers and non-passive smokers.

The average duration of exposure to maternal passive smoking was 0.92 hours per day with SD 1.81 hours per day. Compared to exposure at home, exposure at other locations had a greater duration ( $0.87 \pm 1.79$  hours per day and  $1.15 \pm 1.86$  hours per day, respectively). The average

intensities of exposure were similar with respect to different trimesters (Table 3).

#### 4.2 Primary analysis

As shown in Table 4, exposure to passive smoking during pregnancy was associated with an increased risk of SGA (OR=1.29, 95% CI: 1.08, 1.54). The observed associations were slightly stronger for the exposure during the second or third trimesters (OR=1.33, 95% CI: 1.10, 1.60 and OR=1.35, 95% CI: 1.11, 1.64, respectively) as compared to the first trimester (OR=1.24, 95% CI: 1.03, 1.49). The risk of SGA increased with increasing duration of exposure ( $P_{trend}$ =0.003 for the entire pregnancy,  $P_{trend}$ =0.009 for the first trimester,  $P_{trend}$ <0.001 for the second and third trimesters) (Table 5).

When the association was assessed by exposure locations (Table 6), exposure to passive smoking at home showed a greater risk as compared to exposure at other locations (OR=1.35, 95% CI: 1.11, 1.64 and OR=1.13, 95% CI: 0.78, 1.65, respectively). Similar associations were found with respect to exposure during different trimesters.

#### 4.3 Stratified analysis

Stratified analyses were performed among preterm and term births. When the analyses were restricted to term births, the results were consistent with primary results (Table 7). Among term births, exposure to passive smoking during pregnancy was associated with an increased risk of

SGA (OR=1.22, 95% CI: 1.00, 1.49). Among preterm births, maternal exposure to passive smoking was associated with greater risk of SGA (OR=1.71, 95% CI: 1.11, 2.65) (table 8). However, the risk difference between term and preterm births was non-significant ( $P_{interaction}=0.373$ , data not shown).

Stratified analyses were further conducted by maternal age, pre-pregnancy BMI, parity, gestational hypertension, and maternal anemia. The observed associations between passive smoking and SGA were significantly stronger among women diagnosed with gestational hypertension as compared to women without gestational hypertension (OR=2.32, 95% CI: 1.39, 3.87 and OR=1.18, 95% CI: 0.97, 1.43, respectively;  $P_{interaction}=0.012$ ) (Table 9). Maternal age, pre-pregnancy BMI, parity, and maternal anemia did not significantly modify the association between maternal passive smoking and risk of SGA ( $P_{interaction}=0.816$ , 0.518, 0.804, and 0.125, respectively). Similar patterns were observed for different trimesters (data not shown).

#### 4.4 Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analyses showed that the association between maternal passive smoking exposure and risk of SGA did not materially changed when the US national reference were used as the only standard to define SGA (OR=1.33, 95% CI: 1.14, 1.57) (Table 10). Therefore, application of different population standards to define SGA might not affect the observed association.

#### **5** Discussion

This study found that maternal passive smoking was associated with elevated risk of SGA, and risk increased with increasing duration of exposure. The study also suggested that risk was greater for those exposed to passive smoking at home compared to other locations. The risk was similar among term and preterm births. Furthermore, gestational hypertension might modify the association between passive smoking and SGA.

Passive smoke, also called environmental tobacco smoke (ETS), is a complex and dynamic system. It consists of more than 7,000 toxic chemicals, including nicotine, tar, carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxide, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) [38]. The concentrations of chemicals and sizes of particles in passive smoke differ slightly from active smoke. For example, the fraction of nicotine in the gas phase is higher in passive smoke as compared to active smoke [39]. Passive smokers could be exposed to higher concentration of nicotine and suffer more from nicotine-induced uterine vasoconstriction [9, 40]. Passive smoke also contains smaller particles than active smoke, which can get deeper into the lung, be uptaken more from the lung to the circulation, and cause more severe adverse reproductive effects [38]. Dejmek et al. found a significant association between SGA and exposure to particles and PAHs [41], and also observed significantly increased levels of bulky DNA adducts in the placentas of mothers who were exposed to passive smoking and mothers who delivered SGA babies [42]. Therefore, it is biologically plausible that passive smoking increases the risk of SGA.

It has been reported that exposure to passive smoking during later period in the pregnancy had a stronger effect on reduction of birth weight as compared to exposure during early pregnancy [52]. We also observed slightly greater risk of SGA associated with passive smoking during the second and third trimesters as compared to the first trimester. The crude mean difference in birth weight between non-exposed and exposed women was 46 g in our study. After adjustment for potential confounders, the mean difference was 25 g. Our reported decreases in birth weight were comparable to the 33 g reduction reported in a recent meta-analysis [33].

This study also found that exposure to passive smoking at home showed a greater risk of SGA as compared to exposure at other locations. This finding was consistent with a previous study which reported a positive association between SGA and maternal passive smoking exposure at home compared to other locations [29]. Although the average duration of exposure was smaller at home (0.87 hours per day, SD: 1.81 hours per day) compared to other locations (1.15 hours per day, SD: 1.86 hours per day), it is possible that the concentrations of ETS were higher in the home due to confined space and poor ventilation. Because the number of women who exposed to passive smoking at other locations were relatively small as compared to those exposed at home, the non-significant results from other locations could be due to small sample size.

A number of studies have investigated the association between maternal passive smoking

exposure during pregnancy and risk of SGA [13-32]. While the majority of these studies reported either significantly [15, 16, 20, 21] or non-significantly [13, 14, 17-19, 22-24, 32] elevated risk of SGA associated with passive smoking, several studies found no association [25-31]. Comparison of results across studies is a major challenge. Passive smoking was defined as paternal smoking [13, 24], self-reported exposure to passive smoke during pregnancy [20, 32], number of smokers in the home during pregnancy [15], number of cigarettes smoked in the presence of the mother [17], and concentrations of biomarkers (such as cotinine and nicotine) measured in maternal hair samples [14, 21]. Most studies defined SGA as birth weight below the 10th percentile of the gestational age- and gender-specific population standards [13, 17, 21-26]. However, one study used 5th percentile [15], and several others defined SGA as a birth weight being 1.5 or 2 standard deviations below the gestational age-specific mean birth weight of the general population [20, 27, 29, 30, 32].

Zhang and Ratcliffe reported a non-significant decrease in birth weight and increased proportion of SGA among infants exposed to prenatal ETS in a Chinese case-control study conducted in Shanghai, China [24]. However, in this study prenatal ETS exposure was defined as paternal smoking, and included no measure of duration or mention of other household smokers or other sources of ETS exposure outside of the home. This method of assessment could potentially misclassify true ETS exposed women as unexposed and bias results toward the null. Additionally, authors did not account for certain potential confounders such as maternal BMI, pregnancy complications, and total energy intake during pregnancy.

Pogodina et al. reported that maternal active smoking during pregnancy was a potential effect modifier of the association between passive smoking and SGA. They found a positive association between passive smoking and SGA among non-smoking women but no association among smoking women [5]. A small number of studies have restricted to non-smoking women [23, 24, 29] and two suggested a positive association, consistent with our study findings.

We found significantly higher risk of SGA associated with passive smoking among women who were diagnosed with gestational hypertension as compared to women without gestational hypertension. The mechanism of this effect modification is still unclear. A potential explanation could be placental dysfunction, which is closely associated with gestational hypertension [53]. Toxic chemicals in tobacco smoke can cause placental vasoconstriction and increase carboxyhemoglobin levels of the placental arteries, resulting in fetal hypoxia [9, 40]. Mothers with gestational hypertension may have impaired placental microcirculation, and are thus more susceptible to adverse effects of passive smoking on placental microcirculation compared to healthy women. Ahluwalia et al. reported that the association between passive smoking and SGA was stronger among mothers aged 30 years or older [32]. However, age did not modify the results in our study.

In our study, similar to many prior epidemiologic studies examining the association between passive smoking and SGA, maternal exposure to active and passive smoking were collected retrospectively by self-report. Therefore, potential recall bias cannot be ruled out. Additionally, women might underreport exposure to passive smoking due to social desirability tendency, or potentially because they are unaware of their exposure [47, 48], resulting in non-differential misclassification of exposure and underestimation of the true association. However, several studies indicated that self-reported active and passive smoking exposure during pregnancy was as reliable as appropriate biomarkers [14, 49, 50].

This study excluded both current and former smokers, eliminating potential differences in health outcomes for active versus passive smokers. All study participants were Chinese, minimizing differences in genetic susceptibility to passive smoking by ethnic group. Detailed information on potential confounding factors were collected and controlled for in the analysis. Birth outcomes and maternal complications during pregnancy were obtained from medical records, which minimized misclassification. SGA was defined by the most recent reference of gestational age-and gender-specific birth weight percentiles for Chinese newborns (2006-2010) [6]. Thus, the misclassification of outcome variable should also be minimal.

#### 6 Conclusion

In conclusion, this study supports the hypothesis that maternal passive smoking is associated

with an increased risk of SGA. Future studies should be conducted to examine gestational hypertension as an effect modifier of the relationship between passive smoking and SGA. Our findings indicated a strong need for public health campaigns to increase awareness of the negative health effects of passive smoking, especially during pregnancy, in order to protect the health of women and infants.

#### **Reference:**

- Suhag A, Berghella V. Intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR): etiology and diagnosis. *Curr* Obstet Gynecol Rep 2013;2:102-111.
- Longo S, Bollani L, Decembrino L, Di Comite A, Angelini M, StronatiM. Short-term and long-term sequelae in intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR). *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med* 2013 Feb;26(3):222-5.
- Pinney SE. Intrauterine Growth Retardation-A Developmental Model of Type 2 Diabetes. Drug Discov Today Dis Models 2013;10(2):e71-e77.
- 4. Lee ACC, Katz J, Blencowe H, Cousens S, Kozuki N, Vogel JP, Adair L, Baqui AH, Bhutta ZA, Caulfield LE, Christian P, Clarke SE, Ezzati M, Fawzi W, Gonzalez R, Huybregts L, Kariuki S, Kolsteren P, Lusingu J, Marchant T, Merialdi M, Mongkolchati A, Mullany LC, Ndirangu J, Newell M-L, Nien JK, Osrin D, Roberfroid D, Rosen HE, Sania A, Silveira MF, Tielsch J, Vaidya A, Willey BA, Lawn JE, Black RE, CHERG SGA-Preterm Birth Working Group. National and regional estimates of term and preterm babies born small for gestational age in 138 low-income and middle-income countries in 2010. *Lancet Glob Health* 2013;1: e26–36.
- Pogodina C, Brunner Huber LR, Racine EF, Platonova E. Smoke-free homes for smoke-free babies: the role of residential environmental tobacco smoke on low birth weight. J Community Health 2009 Oct;34(5):376-82.
- 6. Dai L, Deng C, Li Y, Zhu J, Mu Y, Deng Y, Mao M, Wang Y, Li Q, Ma S, Ma X, Zhang Y.

Birth weight reference percentiles for Chinese. PLoS One 2014 Aug 15;9(8):e104779.

- Miyake Y, Tanaka K, Arakawa M. Active and passive maternal smoking during pregnancy and birth outcomes: the Kyushu Okinawa Maternal and Child Health Study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2013 Aug 6;13(1):157.
- Chan A, Keane RJ, Robinson JS. The contribution of maternal smoking to preterm birth, small for gestational age and low birth weight among Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal births in South Australia. *Med J Aust* 2001 Apr 16;174(8):389-93.
- Horta BL, Victora CG, Menezes AM, Halpern R, Barros FC. Low birth weight, preterm births and intrauterine growth retardation in relation to maternal smoking. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 1997 Apr;11(2):140-51.
- 10. Cnattingius S. Maternal age modifies the effect of maternal smoking on intrauterine growth retardation but not on late fetal death and placental abruption. *Am J Epidemiol* 1997 Feb 15;145(4):319-23.
- 11. Nordentoft M, Lou HC, Hansen D, Nim J, Pryds O, Rubin P, Hemmingsen R. Intrauterine growth retardation and premature delivery: the influence of maternal smoking and psychosocial factors. *Am J Public Health* 1996 Mar;86(3):347-54.
- 12. Backe B. Maternal smoking and age. Effect on birth weight and risk for small-for-gestational age births. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 1993 Apr;72(3):172-6.
- 13. Ko TJ, Tsai LY, Chu LC, Yeh SJ, Leung C, Chen CY, Chou HC, Tsao PN, Chen PC, Hsieh WS. Parental smoking during pregnancy and its association with low birth weight, small for

gestational age, and preterm birth offspring: a birth cohort study. *Pediatr Neonatol* 2014 Feb;55(1):20-7.

- Almeida ND, Koren G, Platt RW, Kramer MS. Hair biomarkers as measures of maternal tobacco smoke exposure and predictors of fetal growth. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2011 May;13(5):328-35.
- 15. Fantuzzi G, Vaccaro V, Aggazzotti G, Righi E, Kanitz S, Barbone F, Sansebastiano G, Battaglia MA, Leoni V, Fabiani L, Triassi M, Sciacca S, Facchinetti F. Exposure to active and passive smoking during pregnancy and severe small for gestational age at term. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2008 Sep;21(9):643-7.
- Goel P, Radotra A, Singh I, Aggarwal A, Dua D. Effects of passive smoking on outcome in pregnancy. *J Postgrad Med* 2004 Jan-Mar;50(1):12-6.
- Dejmek J, Solansky I, Podrazilova K, Sram RJ. The exposure of nonsmoking and smoking mothers to environmental tobacco smoke during different gestational phases and fetal growth. *Environ Health Perspect* 2002 Jun;110(6):601-6.
- Hanke W, Kalinka J, Florek E, Sobala W. Passive smoking and pregnancy outcome in central Poland. *Hum Exp Toxicol* 1999 Apr;18(4):265-71.
- Windham GC, Eaton A, Hopkins B. Evidence for an association between environmental tobacco smoke exposure and birthweight: a meta-analysis and new data. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 1999 Jan;13(1):35-57.
- 20. Dejin-Karlsson E, Hanson BS, Ostergren PO, Sjoberg NO, Marsal K. Does passive smoking

in early pregnancy increase the risk of small-for-gestational-age infants? *Am J Public Health* 1998 Oct;88(10):1523-7.

- Nafstad P, Fugelseth D, Qvigstad E, Zahlen K, Magnus P, Lindemann R. Nicotine concentration in the hair of nonsmoking mothers and size of offspring. *Am J Public Health* 1998 Jan;88(1):120-4.
- 22. Roquer JM, Figueras J, Botet F, Jimenez R. Influence on fetal growth of exposure to tobacco smoke during pregnancy. *Acta Paediatr* 1995 Feb;84(2):118-21.
- Fortier I, Marcoux S, Brisson J. Passive smoking during pregnancy and the risk of delivering a small-for-gestational-age infant. *Am J Epidemiol* 1994 Feb 1;139(3):294-301.
- 24. Zhang J, Ratcliffe JM. Paternal smoking and birth weight in Shanghai. *Am J Public Health* 1993 Feb;83(2):207-10.
- 25. Miyake Y, Tanaka K, Arakawa M. Active and passive maternal smoking during pregnancy and birth outcomes: the Kyushu Okinawa Maternal and Child Health Study. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* 2013 Aug 6;13(1):157.
- 26. Steyn K, de Wet T, Saloojee Y, Nel H, Yach D. The influence of maternal cigarette smoking, snuff use and passive smoking on pregnancy outcomes: the Birth To Ten Study. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2006 Mar;20(2):90-9.
- 27. Matsubara F, Kida M, Tamakoshi A, Wakai K, Kawamura T, Ohno Y. Maternal active and passive smoking and fetal growth: A prospective study in Nagoya, Japan. *J Epidemiol* 2000 Sep;10(5):335-43.

- Windham GC, Hopkins B, Fenster L, Swan SH. Prenatal active or passive tobacco smoke exposure and the risk of preterm delivery or low birth weight. *Epidemiology* 2000 Jul;11(4):427-33.
- Sadler L, Belanger K, Saftlas A, Leaderer B, Hellenbrand K, McSharry JE, Bracken MB. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and small-for-gestational-age birth. *Am J Epidemiol* 1999 Oct 1;150(7):695-705.
- 30. Chen LH, Petitti DB. Case-control study of passive smoking and the risk of small-for-gestational-age at term. *Am J Epidemiol* 1995 Jul 15;142(2):158-65.
- 31. Lazzaroni F, Bonassi S, Manniello E, Morcaldi L, Repetto E, Ruocco A, Calvi A, Cotellessa
  G. Effect of passive smoking during pregnancy on selected perinatal parameters. *Int J Epidemiol* 1990 Dec;19(4):960-6.
- 32. Ahluwalia IB, Grummer-Strawn L, Scanlon KS. Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and birth outcome: increased effects on pregnant women aged 30 years or older. Am J Epidemiol 1997 Jul 1;146(1):42-7.
- 33. Leonardi-Bee J, Smyth A, Britton J, Coleman T. Environmental tobacco smoke and fetal health: systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2008 Sep;93(5):F351-61.
- Li Q, Hsia J, Yang G. Prevalence of smoking in China in 2010. N Engl J Med 2011 Jun 23;364(25):2469-70.
- 35. Qiu J, He X, Cui H, Zhang C, Zhang H, Dang Y, Han X, Chen Y, Tang Z, Zhang H, Bai H,

Xu R, Zhu D, Lin X, Lv L, Xu X, Lin R, Yao T, Su J, Liu X, Wang W, Wang Y, Ma B, Liu S, Huang H, Lerro C, Zhao N, Liang J, Ma S, Ehrenkranz RA, Liu Q, Zhang Y. Passive smoking and preterm birth in urban china. *Am J Epidemiol* 2014 Jul 1;180(1):94-102.

- Talge NM, Mudd LM, Sikorskii A, Basso O. United States birth weight reference corrected for implausible gestational age estimates. *Pediatrics* 2014 May;133(5):844-53.
- 37. Wahabi HA, Mandil AA, Alzeidan RA, Bahnassy AA, Fayed AA. The independent effects of second hand smoke exposure and maternal body mass index on the anthropometric measurements of the newborn. *BMC Public Health* 2013 Nov 9;13:1058.
- 38. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US); National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (US); Office on Smoking and Health (US). How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease. A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (US); 2010.
- 39. Perfetti TA, Coleman WM III, Smith WS. Determination of mainstream and sidestream cigarette smoke components for cigarettes of different tobacco types and a set of reference cigarettes. *Beitragezur Tabakforschung International* 1998;18(3):95-113.
- 40. Lambers DS, Clark KE. The maternal and fetal physiologic effects of nicotine. Semin Perinatol 1996 Apr;20(2):115-26.
- 41. Dejmek J, Solansky I, Benes I, Lenicek J, Sram RJ. The impact of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and fine particles on pregnancy outcome. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000

Dec;108(12):1159-64.

- 42. Sram RJ, Binkova B, Rossner P, Rubes J, Topinka J, Dejmek J. Adverse reproductive outcomes from exposure to environmental mutagens. *Mutat Res* 1999 Jul 16;428(1-2):203-15.
- 43. Klebanoff MA, Levine RJ, Morris CD, Hauth JC, Sibai BM, Ben Curet L, Catalano P, Wilkins DG. Accuracy of self-reported cigarette smoking among pregnant women in the 1990s. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2001 Apr;15(2):140-3.
- Benowitz NL. Biomarkers of environmental tobacco smoke exposure. *Environ Health Perspect* 1999 May;107Suppl 2:349-55.
- 45. Jarvis MJ, Russell MA, Benowitz NL, Feyerabend C. Elimination of cotinine from body fluids: implications for noninvasive measurement of tobacco smoke exposure. *Am J Public Health* 1988 Jun;78(6):696-8.
- 46. Russell T, Crawford M, Woodby L. Measurements for active cigarette smoke exposure in prevalence and cessation studies: why simply asking pregnant women isn't enough. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2004 Apr;6 Suppl 2:S141-51.
- 47. DeLorenze GN, Kharrazi M, Kaufman FL, Eskenazi B, Bernert JT. Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in pregnant women: the association between self-report and serum cotinine. *Environ Res* 2002 Sep;90(1):21-32.
- 48. Rauh VA, Whyatt RM, Garfinkel R, Andrews H, Hoepner L, Reyes A, Diaz D, Camann D, Perera FP. Developmental effects of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and material

hardship among inner-city children. Neurotoxicol Teratol 2004 May-Jun;26(3):373-85.

- 49. Ashford KB, Hahn E, Hall L, Rayens MK, Noland M, Ferguson JE. The effects of prenatal second hand smoke exposure on preterm birth and neonatal outcomes. J Obstet Gynecol Neonatal Nurs 2010 Sep-Oct;39(5):525-35.
- 50. Jaakkola JJ, Jaakkola N, Zahlsen K. Fetal growth and length of gestation in relation to prenatal exposure to environmental tobacco smoke assessed by hair nicotine concentration. *Environ Health Perspect* 2001 Jun;109(6):557-61.
- 51. Salmasi G, Grady R, Jones J, McDonald SD; Knowledge Synthesis Group. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure and perinatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analyses. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2010;89(4):423-41.
- 52. Jaddoe VW, Troe EJ, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, Witteman JC. Active and passive maternal smoking during pregnancy and the risks of low birthweight and preterm birth: the Generation R Study. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol* 2008 Mar;22(2):162-71.
- 53. Furuya M, Ishida J, Aoki I, Fukamizu A. Pathophysiology of placentation abnormalities in pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* 2008;4(6):1301-13.
- 54. Bei-Fan Z. Predictive values of body mass index and waist circumference for risk factors of certain related diseases in Chinese adults: study on optimal cut-off points of body mass index and waist circumference in Chinese adults. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr* 2002;11(Suppl. 8):S685-93.

### Appendix

#### A.1 List of abbreviations

- AGA: Appropriate for gestational age
- BMI: Body mass index
- CI: Confidence interval
- ETS: Environmental tobacco smoke
- GPMCCH: Gansu Provincial Maternity and Child Care Hospital
- IUGR: Intrauterine growth retardation
- LBW: Low birth weight
- LGA: Large for gestational age
- OR: Odds ratio
- PAH: Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
- SD: Standard deviation
- SGA: Small for gestational age

Author (by year)	Setting	Design	Sample size	Exposure assessment	Exposure measurement	ResultCOR (95% CI)	Conclusion
Ko (2014) <sup>13</sup>	Taiwan 2005-2006	Birth cohort study	21,248	Retrospectively self-report	Paternal smoking	Preconception: 1.12 (0.90-1.40) First trimester: 1.10 (0.88-1.38) Second and third trimester: 1.09 (0.87-1.36)	Non-significantly positive association
Miyake (2013) <sup>25</sup>	Japan 2007-2008	Prospective cohort study	1,565	Self-report	Domestic & occupational	Exposure at home: 0.80 (0.51-1.24) Exposure at work: 0.96 (0.48-1.78)	No association
Almeida (2011) <sup>14</sup>	Montreal, Canada 1999-2004	Nested case-control study	431	Hair biomarkers	Hair nicotine & cotinine	1.66 (0.81-3.42)	Non-significantly positive association
Fantuzzi (2008) <sup>15</sup>	Italy 1999-2000	Case-control study	84 cases 858 controls	Retrospectively self-report	Number of smokers at home	2.51 (1.59-3.95)	Significantly positive association
Steyn (2006) <sup>26</sup>	South Africa 1990	Prospective cohort study	1,593 (7.3% SGA)	Self-report	Number of smokers at home	*Chi-square test, no OR and 95% CI were reported	No association
Goel (2004) <sup>16</sup>	India	Cross-sectional study	576	Retrospectively self-report	Domestic	2.10 (1.27-3.48)	Significantly positive association

# A.2 List of previous studies on maternal passive smoking and small for gestational age (SGA)

Author (by year)	Setting	Design	Sample size	Exposure assessment	Exposure measurement	Result OR (95% CI)	Conclusion
Dejmek (2002) <sup>17</sup>	Czech Republic 1994-1999	Retrospective study	6,866	Self-report	Domestic	1.08 (0.82-1.43)	Non-significantly positive association
Matsubara (2000) <sup>27</sup>	Japan 1989-1991	Prospective cohort study	7,411	Self-report	Any exposure	Paternal smoking: 0.95 (0.72-1.26) Any other exposure: 0.95 (0.71-1.26)	No association
Windham (2000) <sup>28</sup>	California, USA 1990-1991	Prospective cohort study	4,454	Self-report	Domestic & occupational	0.62 (0.25-1.50)	No association
Hanke (1999) <sup>18</sup>	Poland 1996-1997	Birth cohort study	1,757 (111 SGA)	Retrospectively self-report	Domestic & occupational	1.26 (0.68-2.35)	Non-significantly positive association
Sadler (1999) <sup>29</sup>	Connecticut, USA 1988-1992	Nested case-control study	2,283	Prospectively self-report	Any exposure	0.82 (0.51-1.33)	No association
Windham (1999) <sup>19</sup>	USA 1986-1987	Retrospective study	992	Self-report	Paternal smoking & occupational	1.4 (0.8-2.5)	Non-significantly positive association
Dejin-Karlsson (1998) <sup>20</sup>	Malmo, Sweden 1991-1992	Prospective cohort study	826 (6.7% SGA)	Self-report	Domestic & occupational	3.9 (1.4-10.7)	Significantly positive association

A.2 List of previous studies on maternal passive smoking and small for gestational age (SGA) (continued)

Author (by year)	Setting	Design	Sample size	Exposure assessment	Exposure measurement	Result OR (95% CI)	Conclusion
Nafstad (1998) <sup>21</sup>	Norway 1995	Case-control study	58 cases 105 controls	Hair biomarkers	Hair nicotine	4.2 (1.5-11.5)	Significantly positive association
Ahluwalia (1997) <sup>32</sup>	USA 1989-1994	Prospective cohort study	17,412	Self-report	Domestic	Maternal age <30 years: 0.97 (0.75-1.26) Maternal age ≥30 years: 1.28 (0.76-2.15)	No association among younger women; Non-significantly positive among older women
Chen (1995) <sup>30</sup>	California, USA 1991	Case-control study	111 cases 124 controls	Retrospectively self-report	Any exposure	0.47 (0.13-1.69)	No association
Roquer (1995) <sup>22</sup>	Spain	Retrospective study	129	Self-report	Domestic & occupational	*Chi-square test, no OR and 95% CI were reported	Non-significantly positive association
Fortier (1994) <sup>23</sup>	Quebec, Canada 1989	Birth cohort study	4,644	Retrospectively self-report	Domestic & occupational	1.09 (0.85-1.39)	Non-significantly positive association
Zhang (1993) <sup>24</sup>	Shanghai, China 1986-1987	Birth cohort study	1,785	Retrospectively self-report	Paternal smoking at home	*Chi-square test, no OR and 95% CI were reported	Non-significantly positive association
Lazzaroni (1990) <sup>31</sup>	Italy	Birth cohort study	1,004	Retrospectively self-report	Domestic & occupational	*Chi-square test, no OR and 95% CI were reported	No association

A.2 List of previous studies on maternal passive smoking and small for gestational age (SGA) (continued)

	Small	for	Appropria	te for	
	gestationa	al age	gestationa	al age	Р
	(n=77.	5)	(n=7,863)		P
	Number	%	Number	%	
Maternal age (years)					< 0.001
<25	169	21.8	1,274	16.2	
25-29	331	42.7	3,799	48.3	
≥30	275	35.5	2,790	35.5	
Education (years)					< 0.001
≤12	414	53.4	3,015	38.3	
≥13	345	44.5	4,701	59.8	
Missing	16	2.1	147	1.9	
Employment					< 0.001
Yes	344	44.4	4,109	52.3	
No	431	55.6	3,754	47.7	
Family income (Y/person)					< 0.001
<2000	255	32.9	1,834	23.3	
2000-4000	320	41.3	3,684	46.9	
>4000	116	15.0	1,605	20.4	
Missing	84	10.8	740	9.4	
Parity					0.003
1	528	68.1	5,750	73.1	
2+	247	31.9	2,113	26.9	
Maternal prepregnancy BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )			2		< 0.001
≤18.5	195	25.2	1,687	21.5	
18.6-23.9	462	59.6	5,181	65.9	
≥24	77	9.9	742	9.4	
Missing	41	5.3	253	3.2	
Maternal weight gain during pregnancy	y (kg)				< 0.001
1st tertile ( $\leq 14.5$ )	329	42.5	2,458	31.3	
2nd tertile (14.6-19)	248	32.0	2,833	36.0	
3rd tertile (≥19.1)	145	18.7	2,263	28.8	
Missing	53	6.8	309	3.9	

Table 1. Distribution of demographic and pregnancy-related characteristics among non-smokers (n=8,638) by gestational age weight.

	Small	for	Appropria	te for	
	gestational age (n=775)		gestationa	al age	Р
			(n=7,863)		P
	Number	%	Number	%	
Maternal exercise during pregnancy					0.171
Yes	636	82.1	6,639	84.4	
No	122	15.7	1,098	14.0	
Missing	17	2.2	126	1.6	
Gestational hypertension					< 0.001
Yes	114	14.7	304	3.9	
No	661	85.3	7,559	96.1	
Gestational diabetes					0.229
Yes	3	0.4	61	0.8	
No	772	99.6	7,802	99.2	
Maternal anemia					0.273
Yes	98	12.7	891	11.3	
No	677	87.4	6,972	88.7	
Prior delivery of a low birth weight infant					< 0.001*
Yes	13	1.7	20	0.3	
No	762	98.3	7,843	99.8	
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy					0.639*
Yes	2	0.3	13	0.2	
No	773	99.7	7,850	99.8	
Total energy intake during pregnancy					< 0.001
1st quartile (≤1425.9 kcal/day)	268	34.6	1,900	24.2	
2nd quartile (1426.0-1683.4 kcal/day)	192	24.8	1,909	24.3	
3rd quartile (1683.5-1984.6 kcal/day)	143	18.5	1,948	24.8	
4th quartile ( $\geq$ 1984.7 kcal/day)	154	19.9	1,935	24.6	
Missing	18	2.3	171	2.2	
Gestational age (weeks)					< 0.001
<37	151	19.5	733	9.3	
≥37	624	80.5	7,130	90.7	

Table 1. Distribution of demographic and pregnancy-related characteristics among non-smokers (n=8,638) by gestational age weight (continued).

\* The frequency distribution was compared by Fisher's exact test.

		Passive smoking (n=1,660)		Non-passive smoking (n=6,978)	
	Number	%	Number	%	
Maternal age (years)					< 0.001
<25	338	20.4	1,105	15.8	
25-29	749	45.1	3,381	48.5	
$\geq 30$	573	34.5	2,492	35.7	
Education (years)					< 0.001
≤12	806	48.6	2,623	37.6	
≥13	833	50.2	4,213	60.4	
Missing	21	1.3	142	2.0	
Employment					0.152
Yes	882	53.1	3,571	51.2	
No	778	46.9	3,407	48.8	
Family income (Y/person)					< 0.001
<2000	499	30.1	1,590	22.8	
2000-4000	758	45.7	3,246	46.5	
>4000	288	17.4	1,433	20.5	
Missing	115	6.9	709	10.2	
Parity					< 0.001
1	1,115	67.2	5,163	74.0	
2+	545	32.8	1,815	26.0	
Maternal prepregnancy BMI					0.390
$(kg/m^2)$					0.390
≤18.5	357	21.5	1,525	21.9	
18.6-23.9	1,092	65.8	4,551	65.2	
≥24	165	9.9	654	9.4	
Missing	46	2.8	248	3.6	
Maternal weight gain during pregnancy (kg)					
1st tertile (≤14.5)	555	33.4	2,232	32.0	
2nd tertile (14.6-19)	599	36.1	2,482	35.6	
3rd tertile (≥19.1)	437	26.3	1,971	28.3	
Missing	69	4.2	293	4.2	

Table 2. Distribution of demographic and pregnancy-related characteristics among non-smokers (n=8,638) by passive smoking exposure.

	Passive smoking (n=1,660)		Non-passive smoking (n=6,978)		Р
	Number	%	Number	%	
Maternal exercise during pregnancy					0.002
Yes	1,444	87.0	5,831	83.6	
No	198	11.9	1,022	14.7	
Missing	18	1.1	125	1.8	
Gestational hypertension					0.270
Yes	89	5.4	329	4.7	
No	1,571	94.6	6,649	95.3	
Gestational diabetes	·				0.171
Yes	8	0.5	56	0.8	
No	1,652	99.5	6,922	99.2	
Maternal anemia					< 0.00
Yes	233	14.0	756	10.8	
No	1,427	86.0	6,222	89.2	
Prior delivery of a low birth weight infant					0.463
Yes	8	0.5	25	0.4	
No	1,652	99.5	6,953	99.6	
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy					0.015*
Yes	7	0.4	8	0.1	
No	1,653	99.6	6,970	99.9	
Total energy intake during pregnancy					< 0.00
1st quartile ( $\leq$ 1425.9 kcal/day)	517	31.1	1,651	23.7	
2nd quartile (1426.0-1683.4 kcal/day)	412	24.8	1,689	24.2	
3rd quartile (1683.5-1984.6 kcal/day)	359	21.6	1,732	24.8	
4th quartile (≥1984.7 kcal/day)	350	21.1	1,739	24.9	
Missing	22	1.3	167	2.4	
Gestational age (weeks)					0.037
<37	193	11.6	691	9.9	
≥37	1,467	88.4	6,287	90.1	

Table 2. Distribution of demographic and pregnancy-related characteristics among non-smokers (n=8,638) by passive smoking exposure (continued).

\* The frequency distribution was compared by Fisher's exact test.

Timing of averaging -	Exposure at any location	Exposure at home	Exposure at other locations
Timing of exposure –	Means±SD (hours/day)		
During whole pregnancy	$0.92 \pm 1.81$	$0.87 \pm 1.79$	$1.15 \pm 1.86$
During the first trimester	$1.07 \pm 1.97$	$0.99 \pm 1.95$	$1.39 \pm 2.06$
During the second trimester	$1.10 \pm 2.10$	$1.01 \pm 2.10$	$1.45 \pm 2.09$
During the third trimester	$1.10 \pm 2.12$	$0.94 \pm 1.93$	$1.66 \pm 2.61$

Table 3. Means and standard deviations of duration of maternal passive smoking among exposed women by exposure locations and trimesters.

1	<u> </u>		
Passiva smaking	Appropriate for	Smal	ll for gestational age
Passive smoking	gestational age	Ν	OR* (95% CI)
No	6,392	586	1.00
Yes	1,471	189	1.29(1.08-1.54)
During the first trimester	1,380	171	1.24(1.03-1.49)
During the second trimester	1,254	167	1.33(1.10-1.60)
During the third trimester	1,107	151	1.35(1.11-1.64)

Table 4. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age.

Duration of passive smoking	Appropriate for	Small for gestational a	
(hours/day)	gestational age	Ν	OR* (95% CI)
No passive smoking	6,392	586	1.00
During the entire pregnancy			
<1	1,075	132	1.23(1.00-1.51)
≥1	396	57	1.47(1.09-1.98)
P for trend			0.003
During the first trimester			
<1	920	107	1.13(0.91-1.42)
≥1	460	64	1.45(1.09-1.91)
P for trend			0.009
During the second trimester			
<1	834	102	1.20(0.96-1.51)
≥1	420	65	1.58(1.19-2.09)
P for trend			< 0.001
During the third trimester			
<1	740	94	1.24(0.97-1.57)
$\geq 1$	367	57	1.58(1.17-2.13)
P for trend			< 0.001

 Table 5. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age by duration of exposure.

Location of passive	Appropriate for	Sma	all for gestational age
smoking	gestational age	N	OR* (95% CI)
No passive smoking	6,392	586	1.00
During the entire pregnancy			
Home	1,098	156	1.35(1.11-1.64)
Other locations	354	32	1.13(0.78-1.65)
During the first trimester			
Home	1,022	139	1.28(1.04-1.56)
Other locations	336	32	1.19(0.82-1.74)
During the second trimester			
Home	925	138	1.40(1.14-1.72)
Other locations	309	28	1.13(0.75-1.68)
During the third trimester			
Home	841	124	1.37(1.10-1.70)
Other locations	256	26	1.27(0.83-1.93)

 Table 6. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age by location of exposure.

	Appropriate for	Small	for gestational age
	gestational age	N	OR* (95% CI)
Passive smoking			
No	5,806	481	1.00
Yes	1,324	143	1.22(1.00-1.49)
During the first trimester	1,240	131	1.19(0.97-1.46)
During the second trimester	1,132	126	1.26(1.01-1.54)
During the third trimester	994	113	1.27(1.02-1.58)
Duration of passive smoking (hours/day)			
During the entire pregnancy			
<1	968	101	1.17(0.93-1.48)
≥1	356	42	1.35(0.96-1.89)
P for trend			0.037
During the first trimester			
<1	828	81	1.08(0.84-1.39)
≥1	412	50	1.40(1.03-1.92)
P for trend			0.011
During the second trimester			
<1	753	78	1.15(0.89-1.48)
≥1	379	48	1.45(1.05-1.99)
P for trend			0.064
During the third trimester			
<1	667	71	1.17(0.90-1.53)
≥1	327	42	1.47(1.05-2.06)
P for trend			0.094

Table 7. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age among term births.

	Appropriate for	Smal	ll for gestational age
	gestational age	N	OR* (95% CI)
Location of passive smoking			
During the entire			
pregnancy			
Home	978	117	1.29(1.04-1.60)
Other locations	329	26	1.05(0.69-1.59)
During the first trimester			
Home	909	104	1.22(0.98-1.54)
Other locations	312	27	1.15(0.76-1.73)
During the second			
trimester			
Home	823	102	1.32(1.05-1.66)
Other locations	289	24	1.10(0.71-1.69)
During the third trimester			
Home	745	91	1.29(1.01-1.65)
Other locations	239	22	1.24(0.79-1.94)

 Table 7. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age among term births (continued).

	Appropriate for	Small	for gestational age
	gestational age	Ν	OR* (95% CI)
Passive smoking			
No	586	105	1.00
Yes	147	46	1.71(1.11-2.65)
During the first trimester	140	40	1.49(0.94-2.35)
During the second trimester	122	41	1.87(1.18-2.97)
During the third trimester	113	38	1.91(1.18-3.09)
Duration of passive smoking (hours/day)			
During the entire pregnancy			
<1	107	31	1.56(0.94-2.59)
≥1	40	15	2.12(1.05-4.25)
P for trend			0.011
During the first trimester			
<1	92	26	1.46(0.84-2.53)
≥1	48	14	1.53(0.76-3.05)
P for trend			0.002
During the second trimester			
<1	81	24	1.63(0.93-2.88)
≥1	41	17	2.32(1.18-4.54)
P for trend			0.048
During the third trimester			
<1	73	23	1.79(1.00-3.21)
≥1	40	15	2.12(1.05-4.27)
P for trend			0.070

 Table 8. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age among preterm births.

	Appropriate for	Sma	all for gestational age
	gestational age	Ν	OR* (95% CI)
Location of passive smoking			
During the entire pregnancy			
Home	120	39	1.61(1.00-2.57)
Other locations	25	6	2.02(0.76-5.35)
During the first trimester			
Home	113	35	1.46(0.90-2.38)
Other locations	24	5	1.71(0.60-4.89)
During the second trimester			
Home	102	36	1.78(1.08-2.91)
Other locations	20	4	1.56(0.49-5.04)
During the third trimester			
Home	96	33	1.75(1.05-2.92)
Other locations	17	4	1.84(0.56-6.08)

Table 8. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age among preterm births (continued).

	Appropriate for	Smal	ll for gestational age
	gestational age	Ν	OR* (95% CI)
Maternal age (years)			
< 30			
Non-passive smoking	4,107	379	1.00
Passive smoking	966	121	1.26(1.01-1.57)
$\geq$ 30			
Non-passive smoking	2,285	207	1.00
Passive smoking	505	68	1.34(0.99-1.82)
P for interaction			0.816
Maternal prepregnancy BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )			
≤ 18.5			
Non-passive smoking	1,383	142	1.00
Passive smoking	304	53	1.53(1.08-2.17)
18.6-23.9			
Non-passive smoking	4,195	356	1.00
Passive smoking	986	106	1.14(0.90-1.45)
$\geq 24$			
Non-passive smoking	596	58	1.00
Passive smoking	146	19	1.42(0.80-2.49)
Missing			
Non-passive smoking	218	30	1.00
Passive smoking	35	11	2.11(0.87-5.11)
P for interaction			0.518

Table 9. Stratified associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age.

	Appropriate for gestational age	Small for gestational age	
		Ν	OR* (95% CI)
Parity			
1			
Non-passive smoking	4,752	411	1.00
Passive smoking	998	117	1.26(1.01-1.57)
≥2			
Non-passive smoking	1,640	175	1.00
Passive smoking	473	72	1.34(0.99-1.82)
P for interaction			0.804
Gestational hypertension			
Yes			
Non-passive smoking	253	76	1.00
Passive smoking	51	38	2.32(1.39-3.87)
No			
Non-passive smoking	6,139	510	1.00
Passive smoking	1,420	151	1.18(0.97-1.43)
P for interaction			0.012
Maternal anemia			
Yes			
Non-passive smoking	694	62	1.00
Passive smoking	197	36	1.64(1.04-2.61)
No			
Non-passive smoking	5,698	524	1.00
Passive smoking	1,274	153	1.23(1.01-1.49)
P for interaction			0.125

Table 9. Stratified associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age (continued).

	Appropriate for gestational age	Small for gestational age	
		N	OR* (95% CI)
Passive smoking			
No	6,794	725	1.00
Yes	1,535	234	1.33(1.14-1.57)
During the first trimester	1,442	212	1.28(1.08-1.51)
During the second trimester	1,311	203	1.35(1.14-1.60)
During the third trimester	1,155	184	1.37(1.15-1.64)
Duration of passive smoking (hours/day)			
During the entire pregnancy			
<1	1,127	160	1.24(1.03-1.49)
≥1	408	74	1.61(1.24-2.09)
P for trend			< 0.001
During the first trimester			
<1	968	127	1.12(0.91-1.38)
≥1	474	85	1.61(1.26-2.07)
P for trend			< 0.001
During the second trimester			
<1	876	119	1.17(0.95-1.44)
≥1	435	84	1.71(1.33-2.20)
P for trend			< 0.001
During the third trimester			
<1	782	111	1.21(0.97-1.50)
≥1	373	73	1.72(1.32-2.25)
P for trend			< 0.001

Table 10. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age based on the US national reference.

	Appropriate for gestational age	Sma	Small for gestational age	
		Ν	OR* (95% CI)	
Location of passive smoking				
During the entire pregnancy				
Home	1,134	194	1.43(1.20-1.71)	
Other locations	382	39	1.06(0.75-1.49)	
During the first trimester				
Home	1,060	172	1.35(1.12-1.62)	
Other locations	361	39	1.12(0.79-1.57)	
During the second trimester				
Home	960	168	1.45(1.21-1.75)	
Other locations	331	34	1.05(0.73-1.52)	
During the third trimester				
Home	867	151	1.43(1.18-1.74)	
Other locations	278	32	1.19(0.81-1.73)	

Table 10. Associations between passive smoking and small for gestational age based on the US national reference (continued).